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BRIEF HISTORY OF RAINHILL  

 
Rainhill takes its name from that of that of the Old English personal name of Regna or Regan. The area was 

once part of Lancashire and part of the hundred of West Derby. In 1894, it became part of the Whiston Rural 

District.  

 

Earliest recorded history of Rainhill speaks of óaccessed by two ploughlandsô, the area was held by the Lord of 

Eccleston of the Lord of Sutton. The portion next to Sutton was called Ritherope, which is mentioned in 1341. It 

is next mentioned in 1746 when it passed to the wife of John Williamson of Liverpool, who died at Roby Hall in 

1785. The Eccleston family, however, created a subordinate manor of Rainhill of which first the undertenant 

was Roger de Rainhill. The last family to hold the land was John Chorley who died in 1810, leaving his two 

daughters the land. Dr James Gerard of Liverpool purchased Rainhill Manor House and in 1824, sold it to 

Bartholomew Bretherton. 

 

Rainhill is famous for the 1829 Rainhill Trials, the competition to test George Stephensonôs argument that 

locomotives would provide the best motive power for the Liverpool and Manchester Railway. Robert 

Stephensonôs Rocket was the only locomotive to complete the trials and paved the way for the locomotives 

industry.  

 

The Rainhill Stoops is also an area that has interesting history, yet largely forgotten about as people travel on the 

busy Warrington Road. The óstoopsô were a historical marker or waypoint that existed along the road at 

intervals.  

 

The area has two churches, St Annôs Church and St Bartholomewôs Church (named after Bartholomew 

Bretherton). There are also additional Grade listed buildings such as the Old Farmhouse, which was a Manor 

House around a moated site. The Manor Farmhouse, Woodôs House Farmhouse, Rainhill Cottage, And the 

Rainhill Cross.  

 

 
 

 

 

 

A map of Rainhill and Rainhill 

Stoops showing óThe Hall as 

Rainhill Hallô ï circa 1900 

 

This map shows the extensive 

grounds of óThe Hallô and shows 

the layout with the lodges dotted 

within the grounds, the stable 

block and the original layout of 

Rainhill Hall without the new 

Chapel layout.  

 

There are no houses within the 

original boundary as there are on 

contemporary maps.  

 

Copyright ï Maps.nls.uk 
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THE BRETHERTON  FAMILY  

 
Before we look at the history of Loyola Hall, one must delve in to the history of the Bretherton Family. In short, 

the history on Bartholomew Bretherton himself is excellent, until it is realised that there are three Bartholomew 

Brethertonôs in the family, two Jane Brethertonôs, and a surname change to confuse the lineage of the family. 

 

Bartholomew Brethertonôs family resided in Stonyhurst, Aighton, near Clitheroe. His father was a Farmer who 

resided there at the time in 1775. Bartholomew was born in 1775 at Hurst Green in Lancashire. Near the latter 

part of the 18th century, the four brothers of the Bretherton family (Joseph, Francis, Peter and Bartholomew) 

came to Liverpool to seek their fortune.  

 

Bartholomew set up as a flour dealer and married Jane Atkinson in 1799. The flour trade was not providing 

enough business and he started buying shares in the London Exhibition coach. Together with setting up the 

business of a Stage Coach Proprietor, the brothers and Bartholomew set out to capitalise on the coaching trade 

out of Liverpool. They ran coaches to and from Manchester with varied names such as óAlexander, Lord 

Exmouth, North Britain, Umpireô and could also manage to get passengers to London in under 24 hours on the 

Rocket.  

 

With such a large and prosperous business, Bartholomew needed a headquarters, and chose Rainhill óHalfway 

between Liverpool and Manchesterô with his facilities on land alongside the Ship Inn. He purchased further land 

at Rainhill in 1804 and was listed as being a resident in 1807.  Fast forward to 1824 and Bartholomew purchased 

the Manor of Rainhill from Dr James Gerrard of Liverpool. He continued to purchase additional land in Rainhill 

acquiring over 260 acres ï the family eventually purchased 75% of the township and began to move forward 

with building works.  

 

With the rich trappings of his new successful business, Bartholomew built Rainhill Hall in 1824 and designed an 

extensive garden surrounding the property. In 1840, the building was described as óIt is a very large pretty 

pavilion roofed villa, painted in stone, with a fancy porch. The lawn is surrounded by large trees and the 

circular drive way forms a sweep to the house. Through the grounds, there are numerous pleasant walksò. 

 

 

 
 

Bartholomew Bretherton  

(Copyright - Wikipedia) 

 

 

 

 

 

Bartholomew continued to trade until an offer for part of his 

land was announced and this was sold to make way for a 

route for the new railway. He continued to trade from his 

offices in Dale Street and was still registered as a coach 

proprietor in 1843.  

 

It is stated that Bartholomew had one child, Mary, but 

another sources state that Jane was also born in 1805 

and died in 1806. In 1829, Mary married William Gerard. 

Sadly, this bore no children and William died in 1844 when 

he was only 38. Only a few years later, Mary married again 

for the second time and married the Hon Gilbert Stapleton 

of Richmond. Again, this marriage bore no children and 

again, her husband passed on early in 1856. Newly 

widowed again, she returned to Rainhill to live with her 

newly-widowed mother.  

 
In 1857, Bartholomew passed away (Tuesday August 11th) 

and the Liverpool Mercury stated the following: (directly 

sourced from the newspaper) 
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(Above Images ï Copyright British Newspaper Archive) 

 

In the 12 years after Bartholomew died, (leaving his estate to his daughter), his wife also passed away and was 

interred in the same vaults below St Bartholomewôs Church.  

In 1868, Bartholomewôs daughter, Mary, changed her name to that of Stapleton-Bretherton and it was at this 

time that Ditton Hall was built for her private residence. To tidy up her affairs and get her estate in order, she 

promoted Frederick Annesley Bretherton to heir, (who was the only surviving son of her first cousin, 

Bartholomew.) Frederick went on to marry Isabella (daughter of the 12th Lord Petre) and went on to have 8 

children.  

 

When Jane Bartholomew passed away, Mary had decided a short time later to extend the size of Rainhill Hall. 

This was enlarged to nearly twice its size and it is believed that Mary was to move in and live in the Hall 

herself. It is not recorded as to why the house was enlarged to such a size for just the one person, but it is 

believed that Frederick and Isabella took up residence in Rainhill Hall, while Mary moved to Ditton Hall.  

 

Again, to cloud the family linage for historians, Frederick also changed his name to Stapleton-Bretherton as he 

was required to do so on the death of Mary, and in the wishes of her will. Ditton Hall under the ownership of 

Mary did not last long, as in 1872, she gave the hall to the English Province of the Society of Jesus and moved 

away from the area to the South of England.  

 

 
St Bartholomewôs Church, Rainhill (Copyright Wiki) 

 

 

History does not record the reason why Mary bought 

Rainhill Hall from James Beaumont, was it sold from 

the Bretherton family? However, she died on the 22nd 

December 1883 and her body was returned to the 

vaults to lie alongside that of her second husband at St 

Bartholomewôs Church.  

 
History does not record the reason why Mary bought 

Rainhill Hall from James Beaumont, was it sold from 

the Bretherton family? However, she died on the 22nd 

December 1883 and her body was returned to the 

vaults to lie alongside that of her second husband at St 

Bartholomewôs Church.  
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History does not record the reason why Mary bought Rainhill Hall from James Beaumont, was it sold from the 

Bretherton family? However, she died on the 22nd December 1883 and her body was returned to the vaults to lie 

alongside that of her second husband at St Bartholomewôs Church.  

 

Ditton Hall was indeed donated by the family, and another benefactor made by the Bretherton family was to 

construct St Bartholomewôs Church on land directly opposite. Pevsner describes this as óAlthough not large, this 

is the noblest Catholic church in South Lancashireò. 

 

The Lady chapel being built in 1845 and the Campanile in 1849. The bells were almost certainly gifted by 

Bretherton but very unusual to have a Roman Catholic church with full circle church bells.  Bartholomew also 

built a school for the Parish in 1844 and provided St Maryôs Convent for the Sisters of Charity of St Paul, in 

1856.  

 

Before we continue, we must provide a brief family tree so that it is known of the correct names and relatives:  

 

1 ï The Four Brothers: Joseph, Francis, Peter, Bartholomew (Bretherton) 

 

2 ï Bartholomew Bretherton (1775-1857) marries Jane Atkinson. (They have one Daughter. Mary. (1809-1883) 

Mary marries William Gerard (m.1829) and then marries Gilbert Stapleton (m.1848).  

 

3 ï Joseph Bretherton (circa 1781-1810) marries Martha Ellen. They have one child ï James. (1806-1841) 

 

4 ï Frances Bretherton (circa 1770-1833). Three Children ï Peter (circa 1778-1838), Bartholomew (1812-

1866), Francis (circa 1778-1838) 

 

5 ï Peter Bretherton (1770-1844) marries Jane, 11 Children ï Daniel, Joseph Bartholomew, Frances, Thomas, 

Elizabeth, Bartholomew, Peter, Edward Charles, Will, Catherine, James. 

 

Going back to Bartholomew Bretherton, his daughter, Mary, chooses the Heir of Frederick Annesley Bretherton. 

(1841-1919). This is the Grandson of Peter Bartholomew (Bartholomewôs Brother).  

 

6 ï Frederick Annesley Bretherton marries the Hon. Isabella Mary Stapleton-Bretherton and they have 13 

children! Their children include Evelyn Mary (Blucher) and Gertrude, who married Commander Dewar. 

 

 
 
Robert and Wilfred Stapleton-Bretherton War Memorial 

(Copyright ï warmemorialsonline.org.uk)  

 

 

 

 

 

Of the daughters of Frederick, Mary and her 

brother Robert are commemorated by stained 

glass in Holy Family Church, Cronton.  

 

This church was built at the expense of 

Frederick and Isabella. However, the most 

well-known daughter was Evelyn Mary. She 

married Prinz Gebhard Blucher in 1907.  

 

She published an Autobiography entitled óAn 

English Wife in Berlinô. Evelyn and her 

husband are also buried in St Bartholomewôs 

Churchyard.  

 
Frederick Annesley died in 1919 followed by 

his wife Isabella. His eldest son and no direct 

heir decided to sell the bulk of the estate in 

Rainhill and moved to the south of England. 

In 1923, the house and five acres of land 

were bought by Society of Jesus for use as a 

Retreat House, to be known as Loyola Hall.  
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THE BRETHERTON GRAVES  
 

 

 
 

The Family Vault of the Bretherton Family  

Copyright ï rainhillremembers.uk  

 

Right - The gravestone of Evelyn Mary (Blucher) and Count 

Gebhard Blucher ï St Bartholomewôs Rainhill  

Copyright ï rainhillremembers.uk 

 

 

 
 

The Stapleton-Bretherton Grave at St Bartholomewôs Church 

Copyright ï rainhillremembers.uk 

 
 

The Family Vault of the Bretherton Family 

Copyright ï rainhillremembers.uk 
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LOYOLA HALL ï THE PRE-WAR YEARS 

 

 
 

 

In 1908 after much searching, Compstall Hall in Marple was rented on a short lease to test the water. The 

building was in a poor state and had to have a great deal of work on the building for it to be used for its purpose.  

The attentions of this movement filtered back to even the Pope who sent over a gift of a gold chalice which was 

still in use at Loyola Hall in 1935, but its whereabouts are now unknown.  

 

By 1901, it was considered that Compstall Hall was too small for purpose. Fr Buckland was faced with a 

difficult choice. Extend the building at cost or look elsewhere. At this time, Oakwood Hall in Romiley was up 

for sale, so the purchase was made for a good price. Set in 50 acres of ground and nearer to a station for ease of 

access, the transfer to this property took place in 1909.  

 

At the start of the first world war, Compstall Hall was taken over by the Jesuit Noviceship from Belgium who 

were given shelter, and this stopped the retreat purpose for the time being. However, the building was costing 

more and more ï a notice in the Catholic Times suggests that retreatants would have to take their own sugar if 

they wanted tea or coffee.  

 

During the early years of Retreats, attempts were made to start other houses and the Fathers looked around for 

additional buildings. The purchase of Oakwood suggested great prospects for the building, but it was in the 

wrong location. As luck would have it, Frederick Bartholomew Stapleton-Bretherton was looking to sell 

Rainhill Hall ï a sale which drew the attention of Fr Pollen.  

 

It was considered that Rainhill Hall was a much better prospect than other buildings they were using at the time. 

Only a short walk from the Rainhill Train Station, this was also on the main line to Liverpool and within easy 

reach of Liverpool and Manchester.   

 

Even more encouraging was that Bretherton was eager to sell the property to the Society of Jesus. The 

stipulation was that a payment of £5,000 would be taken with Ã2,000 ódownô and the remainder in due course. It 

was never proven whether the additional £3,000 was ever paid! 

 

On April 27th, 1934, the Jesuits took possession of Rainhill Hall, and 5 acres of grounds. Further to this, there 

was an extensive stable-block, associated living quarters, and a fine clock-tower. Three lodges, St Anneôs 

Lodge, Rookeryôs Lodge and East Lodge at the stable entrance on Chapel Lane. It was also part of the 

stipulation of the sale that should the Retreat need further land, this would become available upon request.  

 

It was lucky that one of the Brothers, Brother John Weaver who was a skilled painter and decorator. He set 

about converting the conservatory in to a large conference room. Alterations made would consider the Hall to 

take one hundred men at a time. As well as the ground floor, besides the chapel, library and refectory, there was 

room to sleep fifty men. However, there was a notable walk down to the cellar system for washing!  

 

 

Drawing of Rainhill Hall by William Culshaw and Henry 

Sumners, Architects, Dec 1870 

 

(Copyright - A quiet place ï A History of Loyola Hall) 

 
Before we look in to the history of Loyola hall, one 

must review the reasoning and purchase of this 

building. Returning to 1907, it was credited that the 

Retreat Movementôs beginnings by Fr Charles 

Plater SJ. The Jesuits were having great success 

with óretreats for working menô and during the 

summer of 1907, Fr Charles brought over 70 men 

from the Sacred Heart parish in Accrington to 

Stonyhurst for a short retreat. This was a great 

success and led to the research and development of 

a permanent House of Retreats for working men in 

the north of England. 
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Despite constant building work and small alterations on the building to shape the building for their needs, the 

first year of óbusinessô saw over 500 people had made retreats in the building. With the first retreat taking place 

on July 12th, the Archbishop Keating of Liverpool came and blessed the house and was highly impressed with 

the new property.  

 

The success of Loyola Hall was largely down to Fr Pollen who was instrumental in promoting Loyola Hall and 

for many years, he campaigned and promoted the property and retreat until his health declined and he stopped in 

his work at the age of 64. Only 3 years later he would pass away from ill health and a motorcar accident. 

 

 
 

 

A standard day at Loyola Hall gave the retreatants an early start at 7am. Washed and dressed, they would be at 

Morning Prayers and Mass at 7:25am. This would be followed by a cooked breakfast at 8:30am. The first 

meditation would take place at 9:45am and at 11am, the retreatants went on ópilgrimageô from the chapel to the 

statue of Our Lady of Loyola, which stood in the grounds of the site which is now covered by the New Wing.  

 

Further meditation would take place at 11:45am. After lunch, the men did the óStations of the Crossô around the 

grounds, followed by a Conference. Evening meal was at 4:30pm and a further meditation at 5:15pm. Supper 

was 7pm followed by time for reflection. Lights out were at 10pm. There were also strict instructions not to 

leave the grounds at any time during the retreat without express permission.  

 

The men would be effectively ólocked inô the grounds but this was for good reason. They were there for a retreat 

and to reflect on the reason being there. They could be controlled by the Hall and the Fathers to help them on 

their retreat and to understand how this would greatly help and assist them to move forward in their life and to 

focus on their studies and life.  

 

 
 

Map of (1883-1913) The Hall.  

(Copyright ï maps.nls.uk) 

 

 

 

Fr Pollen in the driving seat 

with Brother Daniel Shields 

behind ï outside the Stable 

Block 

 
(Copyright - A quiet place ï A 

History of Loyola Hall) 

 
 

 
 

Map of (1892-1914) The Hall, showing a greater resolution of the area.  

(Copyright ï maps.nls.uk) 


